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COMPLAINT – CASE NO. 8:18-CV-01953 

 

Plaintiffs Uniloc 2017 LLC and Uniloc Licensing USA LLC (collectively 

“Uniloc”), by and through the undersigned counsel, hereby file this Complaint and 

make the following allegations of patent infringement relating to U.S. Patent Nos. 

6,519,005, 6,895,118 and 9,721,273 against Hulu, LLC (“Hulu”) and allege as 

follows upon actual knowledge with respect to themselves and their own acts and 

upon information and belief as to all other matters: 

NATURE OF THE ACTION 

1. This is an action for patent infringement.  Uniloc alleges that Hulu 

infringes U.S. Patent Nos. 6,519,005 (the “’005 patent”), U.S. Patent No. 6,895,118 

(the “’118 patent”) and 9,721,273 (the “’273 patent”) copies of which are attached 

hereto as Exhibits A-C (collectively, “the Asserted Patents”). 

2. Uniloc alleges that Hulu directly infringes the Asserted Patents by 

making, using, offering for sale, selling and/or importing products and services that: 

(1) perform a method for motion coding an uncompressed (pixel level) digital video 

data stream; (2) perform a method of coding a digital image comprising 

macroblocks in a binary data stream and (3) perform a method for providing 

content via a computer network and a computer system.  Uniloc seeks damages and 

other relief for Hulu’s infringement of the Asserted Patents.  

THE PARTIES 

3. Uniloc 2017 LLC is a Delaware corporation having places of business 

at 1209 Orange Street, Wilmington, Delaware 19801 and 620 Newport Center 

Drive, Newport Beach, California 92660.   

4. Uniloc Licensing USA LLC is a Delaware corporation having places 

of business at 1209 Orange Street, Wilmington, Delaware 19801 and 620 Newport 

Center Drive, Newport Beach, California 92660.    

5. Uniloc holds all substantial rights, title and interest in and to the 

Asserted Patents. 
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6. Upon information and belief, Defendant Hulu, LLC., is a corporation 

organized and existing under the laws of the State of Delaware, with at least the 

following place of business in this District:  2500 Broadway, Santa Monica, California 

90404.  Hulu may be served through its registered agent for service: CSC-Lawyers 

Incorporating Service 2710 Gateway Oaks Drive, Suite 150N, Sacramento, CA  

95833 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

7. This action for patent infringement arises under the Patent Laws of the 

United States, 35 U.S.C. § 1 et. seq.  This Court has original jurisdiction under 28 

U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1338. 

8. This Court has both general and specific jurisdiction over Hulu 

because Hulu has committed acts within the Central District of California giving 

rise to this action and has established minimum contacts with this forum such that 

the exercise of jurisdiction over Hulu would not offend traditional notions of fair 

play and substantial justice.  Defendant Hulu, directly and through subsidiaries, 

intermediaries (including distributors, retailers, franchisees and others), has 

committed and continues to commit acts of patent infringement in this District, by, 

among other things, making, using, testing, selling, licensing, importing and/or 

offering for sale/license products and services that infringe the Asserted Patents.  

9. Venue is proper in this district and division under 28 U.S.C. §§ 

1391(b)-(d) and 1400(b) because Hulu has committed acts of infringement in the 

Central District of California and has at least one regular and established place of 

business in the Central District of California. 

COUNT I – INFRINGEMENT OF U.S. PATENT NO. 6,519,005 

10. The allegations of paragraphs 1-9 of this Complaint are incorporated 

by reference as though fully set forth herein. 

11. The ’005 patent, titled “Method of Concurrent Multiple-Mode Motion 
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Estimation For Digital Video,” issued on February 11, 2003.  A copy of the ’005 

patent is attached as Exhibit A.  

12. Pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 282, the ’005 patent is presumed valid. 

13. Upon information and belief, Hulu makes, uses, offers for sale, and/or 

sells in the United States and/or imports into the United States products and 

services such as its H.264 encoders that practice a method for motion coding an 

uncompressed digital video data stream (collectively the “Accused Infringing 

Devices”).  

14. Upon information and belief, the Accused Infringing Devices infringe 

at least claim 1 in the exemplary manner described below. 

15. The Accused Infringing Devices provide a method for motion coding 

an uncompressed (pixel level) digital video data stream.  The Accused Infringing 

Devices receive input video streams which are then encoded and/or transcoded 

using at least the H.264 (AVC1) standard.  The H.264 standard is a widely used 

video compression format with decoder support on web browsers, TVs and other 

consumer devices.  Moreover, H.264 uses motion compressor and estimator for 

motion coding video streams.   

16. The Accused Infringing Devices stream content using the DASH 

format, as shown by the mpd manifest sample below.  The manifest file includes 

references to the AVC1 (H.264) video codec.  The AVC1 designator is the IETF 

identifier for H.264. 
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Source: https://www.hulu.com/watch/0a698a7c-a9d6-4f06-b547-d17a84edea7f 
 

 
 

Source: https://manifest.hulustream.com/dash/1874263.mpd 
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Source: https://tools.ietf.org/html/rfc6381 
 

 
 

 

 
 

H.264 Encoder Block Diagram 
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Source: https://courses.cs.washington.edu/courses/csep590a/07au/lectures/rahullarge.pdf 

17. The Accused Infringing Devices provide a method for comparing 

pixels of a first pixel array (e.g., a macroblock) in a picture currently being coded 

with pixels of a plurality of second pixel arrays in at least one reference picture and 

concurrently performing motion estimation for each of a plurality of different 

prediction modes in order to determine which of the prediction modes is an 

optimum prediction mode. 

18. H.264 uses different motion estimation modes in inter-frame 

prediction.  These modes are commonly referred to as inter-frame prediction 

modes, or inter modes.  Each inter mode involves partitioning the current 

macroblock into a different combination of sub blocks, and selecting the optimum 

motion vector for the current macroblock based on the partition. The inter-frame 

prediction modes, or inter modes, can be further categorized by the number and 

position of the reference frames, as well as the choice of integer pixel, half pixel 

and quarter pixel values in motion estimation.  The Hulu H.264 encoders 

concurrently perform motion estimation of a macroblock for all inter-modes and 

select the most optimum prediction mode with least rate distortion cost.  
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Source: https://courses.cs.washington.edu/courses/csep590a/07au/lectures/rahullarge.pdf, p. 30 

19. H.264 provides a hierarchical way to partition a macroblock, with the 

available partitions shown in the following two figures. An exemplary inter-frame 

prediction mode, or inter mode, can be for a macroblock to be partitioned to 

encompass a 16x8 sub block on the left, and two 8x8 sub blocks on the right.  
 

Macroblock partitions for inter-frame prediction modes 

 
 

Source: https://courses.cs.washington.edu/courses/csep590a/07au/lectures/rahullarge.pdf, p. 4 

30

Mode Decision
16x16 luma Macroblock

Intra Modes
(For all frames)

Inter Modes (Only 
for P and B-frames)

• Nine 4x4 Modes
• Four 16x16 Modes

• Macroblock partitions: 
16x16,16x8,8x16, 
8x8,8x4,4x8,4x4
• Use of reference frames
• Use of integer, half and 
quarter pixel motion 
estimation

• Each mode (inter or intra) has an associated Rate-Distortion (RD) 
cost.
• Encoder performs mode decision to select the mode having the least 
RD cost.  This process is computationally intensive.

4

Macroblock Partitions

16x16

8x8 8x8

8x8 8x8

16x8 16x8

8x16

8x16

16x16 16x16

8x8

4x4

4x44x4

4x4

8x4 8x4

8x8

4x8

4x8

8x8

16x16 blocks can 
be broken into 
blocks of sizes 
8x8, 16x8, or 8x16.

8x8 blocks can be 
broken into blocks 
of sizes 4x4, 4x8, 
or 8x4. 
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H.264 provides macroblock partitions for inter-frame prediction modes 

 
 

Source: H.264 Standard (03-2010) at p. 26 

20. The optimum prediction mode as chosen for the current macroblock is 

embedded in the compressed bit stream of H.264, as shown in the following two 

syntaxes. 
 

Macroblock prediction syntax in H.264 
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Source: H.264 Standard (03-2010) at p. 57 
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Sub-macroblock prediction syntax in H.264 

 
 

Source: H.264 Standard (03-2010) at p. 58 
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21. The Accused Infringing Devices provide a method for determining 

which of the second pixel arrays (e.g., macroblock) constitutes a best match with 

respect to the first pixel array (e.g., macroblock) for the optimum prediction mode.  
 

 
 
Source: B. Juurlink et al., Scalable Parallel Programming Applied to H.264, Chapter 2: 
Understanding the Application: An Overview of the H.264 Standard, p. 12 

 
22. For example, the encoder performs mode decision to select the most 

optimum prediction mode with least rate distortion cost. 

 
Macroblock layer semantics 

 
 

Source: H.264 Standard (03-2010), p. 100 
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Mode Decision 

 
 

Source: https://courses.cs.washington.edu/courses/csep590a/07au/lectures/rahullarge.pdf, p. 30 
 

23. The Accused Infringing Devices provide a method for generating a 

motion vector for the first pixel array in response to the determining step.  The 

encoder calculates the appropriate motion vectors and other data elements 

represented in the video data stream. 
 

 
 

Source: B. Juurlink et al., Scalable Parallel Programming Applied to H.264, Chapter 2: 
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Understanding the Application: An Overview of the H.264 Standard, p. 12 
 

Motion Vector Derivation is described below 

 
 

Source: H.264 Standard (03-2010), p. 151 
 

H.264 Encoder Block Diagram 

 
 

Source: https://courses.cs.washington.edu/courses/csep590a/07au/lectures/rahullarge.pdf, p. 2 
 

24. Hulu has infringed, and continues to infringe, at least claim 1 of the 

’005 patent in the United States, by making, using, offering for sale, selling and/or 
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importing the Accused Infringing Devices in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a). 

25. Upon information and belief, Hulu may have infringed and continues 

to infringe the ’005 patent through other software and devices utilizing the same or 

reasonably similar functionality, including other versions of the Accused Infringing 

Devices.  

26. Hulu’s acts of direct infringement have caused and continue to cause 

damage to Uniloc and Uniloc is entitled to recover damages sustained as a result of 

Hulu’s wrongful acts in an amount subject to proof at trial. 

COUNT II– INFRINGEMENT OF U.S. PATENT NO. 6,895,118 

27. The allegations of paragraphs 1-9 of this Complaint are incorporated 

by reference as though fully set forth herein. 

28. The ’118 patent, titled “Method Of Coding Digital Image Based on 

Error Concealment,” issued on May 17, 2005.  A copy of the ’118 patent is attached 

as Exhibit B. 

29. Pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 282, the ’118 patent is presumed valid. 

30. Upon information and belief, Hulu makes, uses, offers for sale, and/or 

sells in the United States and/or imports into the United States products and 

services such as H.264 encoders that practice a method for coding a digital image 

comprising macroblocks in a binary data stream (collectively the “Accused 

Infringing Devices”).  

31. Upon information and belief, the Accused Infringing Devices infringe 

at least claim 1 in the exemplary manner described below. 

32. The Accused Infringing Devices use H.264 (AVC) streams for coding 

video data (digital images) including macroblocks embedded in a binary stream. 

33. H.264 is a widely used video compression format with decoder support 

on web browsers, TVs and other consumer devices. Moreover, H.264 codes digital 

images comprising macroblocks streams. 
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34. The Accused Infringing Devices stream content using the MPEG-

DASH format, as shown by the mpd file (manifest) sample below.  The manifest 

file includes references to the video codec: AVC1 (H.264).  The AVC1 designator 

is the IETF identifier for H.264.  The binary (byte stream) format is specified in 

Annex B of the H.264 specification. 
 

 
 

Source: https://www.hulu.com/watch/0a698a7c-a9d6-4f06-b547-d17a84edea7f 
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Source: https://manifest.hulustream.com/dash/1874263.mpd 
 

 
 

Source : https://tools.ietf.org/html/rfc6381 
 

 
 

Source: https://www.itu.int/rec/T-REC-H.264-201704-I/en , p. i 
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Source: https://www.itu.int/rec/T-REC-H.264-201704-I/en, section 0.6.3 
 

 
 

Source: https://www.itu.int/rec/T-REC-H.264-201704-I/en, Annex B 
 
 

35. The Accused Infringing Devices’ H.264 coding supports skipped 

macroblocks.  Before a macroblock is coded, an estimation is made of whether that 

macroblock can be reconstructed with an error concealment method by examining 

its motion characteristics, and checking to see that the resulting prediction contains 

no non-zero (i.e. all zero) quantized transform coefficients.  This estimation 

provides an indication of the capacity for the macroblock to be reconstructed from 

properties of neighboring macroblocks, allowing the missing block to be concealed 

by inferring its properties. 
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Source: http://mrutyunjayahiremath.blogspot.com/2010/09/h264-inter-predn.html 

36. The Accused Infringing Devices’ H.264 encoders perform a decision 

step to determine if a macroblock should be excluded from coding (skipped), with 

the decision to exclude made on the basis of its capacity to be reconstructing by 

inferring its motion properties from neighboring macroblocks, and based on all zero 

quantized transform coefficients. 
 

 
 

Source: http://mrutyunjayahiremath.blogspot.com/2010/09/h264-inter-predn.html 
 

 
 

Source: https://www.itu.int/rec/T-REC-H.264-201704-I/en, p13 
 

37. Skipped macroblocks are communicated with an mb_skip_flag = 1 

(resynchronization marker at the point where the macroblocks are not coded 
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(skipped)) in the binary data stream. 
 

 
 

Source: https://www.itu.int/rec/T-REC-H.264-201704-I/en, p13 
 

 
 

Source: https://www.oreilly.com/library/view/the-h264-
advanced/9780470516928/ch05.html#macroblock_layer 

 

 
 

Source: https://www.itu.int/rec/T-REC-H.264-201704-I/en, p96 
 

38. Hulu has infringed, and continues to infringe, at least claim 1 of the 

’118 patent in the United States, by making, using, offering for sale, selling and/or 

importing the Accused Infringing Devices in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a). 

39. Upon information and belief, Hulu may have infringed and continues 

to infringe the ’118 patent through other software and devices utilizing the same or 

reasonably similar functionality, including other versions of the Accused Infringing 

Devices.  
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40. Hulu’s acts of direct infringement have caused and continue to cause 

damage to Uniloc and Uniloc is entitled to recover damages sustained as a result of 

Hulu’s wrongful acts in an amount subject to proof at trial. 

COUNT III– INFRINGEMENT OF U.S. PATENT NO. 9,721,273 

41. The allegations of paragraphs 1-9 of this Complaint are incorporated 

by reference as though fully set forth herein. 

42. The ’273 patent, titled “System and Method For Aggregating And 

Providing Audio And Visual Presentations Via A Computer Network,” issued on 

August 1, 2017.  A copy of the ’273 patent is attached as Exhibit C. 

43. Pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 282, the ’273 patent is presumed valid. 

44. Upon information and belief, Hulu makes, uses, offers for sale, and/or 

sells in the United States and/or imports into the United States products and 

services that practice a method for providing content via a computer network and a 

computer system (collectively the “Accused Infringing Devices”).  

45. Upon information and belief, the Accused Infringing Devices infringe 

at least claim 1 in the exemplary manner described below. 

46. The Accused Infringing Devices perform a method for providing 

content via a computer network and computer system.  In particular, Hulu operates 

a streaming service that delivers TV shows and movies to subscribers over the 

Internet. 
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Source: http://www.hulu.com 
 

47. The Accused Infringing Devices store presentation data that represents 

content of a first collection of one or more presentations using the computer system.  

In particular, Hulu maintains a collection of presentations that a user has started, but 

not finished, watching.  Such a collection can be displayed in several contexts, 

including on the Hulu homepage as well as while browsing categories such as 

“Kids.” 
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Source: http://www.hulu.com 
 

48. The Accused Infringing Devices store data indicative of the first 

collection of presentations so as to be associated with the presentation data.  In 

particular, the Accused Infringing Devices store viewing data indicating the amount 
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of time the user has watched each program in the “Keep Watching” row. 
 

 
 

Source: http://www.hulu.com 
 

49. The Accused Infringing Devices store feed data that represents a 

collection of one or more feeds using the computer system.  The Accused 

Infringing Devices store feed data representing TV shows and movies that have 

been recommended to the user.  For example, "Line Up" is a collection of 

presentations recommended to the user. 
 

 
 

Source: http://www.hulu.com 
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50. “For You” is another example of a collection of presentations 

recommended to the user through the browse category pages.   
 

 
 

Source: http://www.hulu.com 
 

51. The Accused Infringing Devices store feed data in connection with the 

operation of their recommendation engine.  In the case of displaying the Hulu 

homepage, the client queries the discover.hulu.com host to identify a second 

collection of presentations (i.e., recommendations labeled “Line Up”).  The 

recommendations are identified by id numbers, such as “2b4f6451-b084-450a-

a6d7-f116ecc85af6” (corresponding to “Chicago Med”).  This operation reflects the 

storage of feed data corresponding to the second collection by Hulu, prior to 

transmission of the id numbers to the client. 
 

Case 8:18-cv-01953   Document 1   Filed 10/31/18   Page 25 of 34   Page ID #:25



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 

   
COMPLAINT – CASE NO. 8:18-CV-01953  

 

25 

 
 

Source:  Screenshot of Chrome Developer Tools showing the file containing data that supports 
the user’s experience from Hulu.com. 

 
52. In the case of displaying a browse category page, the client queries the 

discover.hulu.com host to identify a second collection of presentations (i.e., 

recommendations labeled “For You”).  The recommendations are identified by id 

numbers, such as “671bc3fd-114f-4044-986b-b961ca527024” (corresponding to 

“Teen Titans Go!”).  This operation reflects the storage of feed data corresponding 

to the second collection by Hulu, prior to transmission of the id numbers to the 

client. 
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Source:  Screenshot of Chrome Developer Tools showing the file containing data that supports 
the user’s experience from Hulu.com. 

 
53. Each of the feeds identifies a corresponding second collection of one 

or more presentations being accessible via the computer network, and includes no 

data representing the video/audio content of the second collection of presentations.  

As shown above, the feed data includes the identifiers and other metadata 

associated with the presentations, which is not the video/audio content of the 

presentations.  In addition, the “Line Up” feed data includes other information that 

is apart from the video/audio content, such as the reason(s) for recommending a 

particular presentation to the user and tags associated therewith. 
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Source:  Screenshot of Chrome Developer Tools showing the file containing data that supports 
the user’s experience from Hulu.com. 
 

54. The Accused Infringing Devices automatically and periodically access 

each of the feeds to identify each of the corresponding second collection of 

presentations using the computer system.  In particular, Hulu’s catalog of TV shows 

and movies is constantly changing.  https://www.hulu.com/press/new-this-month/. 

55. The Accused Infringing Devices also provide a recommendations 

engine that automatically and periodically provides updated recommendations. 
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Source: https://www.hulu.com/press/hulu-update/mobile-features-and-your-new-web/ 
 

56. The Accused Infringing Devices store data associated with a third 

collection of one or more presentations.  In particular, the Accused Infringing 

Devices display additional rows, each corresponding to a separate collection of 

presentations.  For example, on the Hulu homepage, Hulu stores data associated 

with “New Episodes” and “My Channels.” 
 

 
 

 
 

Source: https://hulu.com  
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57. In addition on the browse category pages, the Accused Infringing 

Devices store data associated with collections of “Live” and “Upcoming” TV 

shows. 
 

 
 

Source: https://hulu.com  
 

58. The Accused Infringing Devices aggregate the first, second, and third 

collections of presentations for delivery via the computer network using a common 

web page.  Both the Hulu.com homepage and browse category pages include rows 

corresponding to first, second, and third collections of presentations. 
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Source: https://hulu.com  
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Source: https://hulu.com  
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59. Hulu has infringed, and continues to infringe, at least claim 1 of the 

’273 patent in the United States, by making, using, offering for sale, selling and/or 

importing the Accused Infringing Devices in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a). 

60. Upon information and belief, Hulu may have infringed and continues 

to infringe the ’273 patent through other software and devices utilizing the same or 

reasonably similar functionality, including other versions of the Accused Infringing 

Devices.  

61. Hulu’s acts of direct infringement have caused and continue to cause 

damage to Uniloc and Uniloc is entitled to recover damages sustained as a result of 

Hulu’s wrongful acts in an amount subject to proof at trial. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, plaintiffs Uniloc 2017 LLC and Uniloc Licensing USA LLC 

respectfully pray that the Court enter judgment in their favor and against Hulu as 

follows: 

a. A judgment that Hulu has infringed one or more claims of the 

’005 Patent literally and/or under the doctrine of equivalents;  

b. A judgment that Hulu has infringed one or more claims of the 

’118 Patent literally and/or under the doctrine of equivalents;  

c. A judgment that Hulu has infringed one or more claims of the 

’273 Patent literally and/or under the doctrine of equivalents;  

d. That for each Asserted Patent this Court judges infringed by 

Hulu this Court award Uniloc its damages pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 284 and any 

royalties determined to be appropriate; 

e. That this be determined to be an exceptional case under 35 

U.S.C. § 285 and that Uniloc be awarded enhanced damages up to treble damages 

for willful infringement as provided by 35 U.S.C. § 284; 

f. That this Court award Uniloc prejudgment and post-judgment 
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interest on its damages; 

g. That Uniloc be granted its reasonable attorneys’ fees in this 

action; 

h. That this Court award Uniloc its costs; and 

i. That this Court award Uniloc such other and further relief as the 

Court deems proper.  

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

Uniloc hereby demands trial by jury on all issues so triable pursuant to Fed. 

R. Civ. P. 38. 

 
Dated: October 31, 2018 
 

FEINBERG DAY ALBERTI LIM & 
BELLOLI LLP  
 
By:  /s/ M. Elizabeth Day 

 M. Elizabeth Day 
 

Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
Uniloc 2017 LLC and Uniloc Licensing 
USA LLC  
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